IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

(Court of Appeals No. 71420-1)

INTRODUCTION

Plaintiff Bella Acharya is attempting to sue Microsoft Corporation in Washington State for discriminatory treatment that she allegedly suffered while working for a Swiss corporation in Europe. Before she accepted that job, she signed an employment agreement in which she agreed to resolve any employment-related disputes in Swiss courts. When Acharya nevertheless brought suit in King County Superior Court, Microsoft attempted to enforce the forum-selection clause. The Superior Court denied Microsoft's motion to dismiss, and the Court of Appeals affirmed. Even though the undisputed evidence showed that Acharya was not employed in Washington—or by a Washington corporation—at any relevant time, the Court of Appeals believed that it was required to presume that Acharya was a Microsoft employee working in Washington because that was what she alleged in the complaint.

The published decision of the Court of Appeals is directly contrary to this Court's decision in *Dix v. ICT Grp., Inc.*, which held that "[i]n assessing a forum selection clause for enforceability, the court does *not* accept the pleadings as true." 160 Wn.2d 826, 835, 161 P.3d 1016 (2007) (emphasis added). The conflict with *Dix*—and with numerous Court of Appeals decisions applying the same rule—is significant because the decision below relieves plaintiffs of their obligation to present evidence

justifying the non-enforcement of forum-selection clauses and instead allows them to escape their contractual obligations through artful pleading. Given the importance of forum-selection clauses to contractual predictability, the court's error raises an issue of substantial public interest, and it warrants review and correction by this Court.

IDENTITY OF THE PETITIONER

The petitioner is Defendant Microsoft Corporation.

COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

On June 22, 2015, the Court of Appeals, Division I, issued a decision affirming the trial court's denial of Microsoft Corporation's motion to dismiss the complaint. (App. 1-17) On August 12, 2015, the Court of Appeals ordered that its decision be published. (App. 18-19)

ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Whether, in ruling on a motion to enforce a forum-selection clause, a court must accept allegations in the pleadings as true when they are contrary to undisputed evidence properly considered on the motion.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Acharya becomes an employee of Microsoft Global Resources GmbH in Europe

Until 2008, Acharya worked as an advertising sales manager for Microsoft Corporation in Redmond, Washington. (CP 79) In that year, she developed the idea of leading her own international sales team. (CP 79,

145, 162) To that end, she voluntarily resigned her employment with Microsoft Corporation and accepted a job in the United Kingdom, where Microsoft Global Resources GmbH (MGR), a Swiss company, employed her as an International Sales Manager. (CP 80) MGR assigned Acharya to work in the United Kingdom for Microsoft Ltd., a British company. (CP 80)

Before resigning her Microsoft Corporation employment and accepting the job with MGR in Europe, Acharya signed a new employment agreement with MGR. (CP 187-93) That agreement was seven pages long, and Acharya reviewed it for a month before she signed. (*Id.*) It contained a choice-of-law provision specifying that the agreement was to be "governed in all respects by the laws of Switzerland." (CP 192) It also contained a forum-selection clause requiring the resolution of all disputes in Swiss courts. (*Id.*) That clause, identified by the boldface heading "Place of Jurisdiction" in the margin, stated: "Any dispute, controversy or claim arising under, out of or in relation to this Employment Agreement, its valid conclusion, binding effects, interpretation, including tort claims, shall be referred and finally determined by the ordinary courts at the domicile of MGR in Switzerland." (*Id.*)

The agreement contained an integration clause specifying that it reflects "the complete agreement between the parties," except that the

"International Offer Letter of Assignment" constitutes "an integral part" of the agreement. (CP 191-92) That letter informed Acharya that her employment was "anticipated to be for two years," and that "[t]hroughout the term of this agreement, you will remain an employee of MGR." (CP 195) The letter further stated that, upon the conclusion of the assignment, "[t]here is no guarantee that you will obtain another assignment with MGR or a new position with another Microsoft affiliate." (CP 197)

Acharya extended her employment agreement with MGR several times, and as a result she worked for MGR continuously in Europe for four years, until 2012. (CP 81) While at MGR, she held a highly compensated managerial position, and she led a team located throughout the European Union. (CP 182) Shortly before her MGR employment concluded, she applied for several jobs with Microsoft Corporation in the United States, but she was not hired for any of those positions. (CP 80)

B. Acharya sues Microsoft Corporation in King County

In July 2013, Acharya brought this lawsuit against Microsoft Corporation, alleging that it had violated the Washington Law Against Discrimination (WLAD), Chapter 49.60 RCW. (CP 1-22) Specifically, she alleged that her London-based manager, Olivier van Duüren, an employee of Microsoft NV assigned to work for Microsoft Ltd. in the United

Kingdom, gave her unfairly low performance evaluations in 2011 and 2012 on account of her sex and age. (CP 5-12)

Acharya contended that van Duüren's supervisors, some of whom were based in Redmond, had failed to supervise him adequately and monitor his activities, and that investigators employed by Microsoft Corporation had failed to conduct an adequate investigation of her complaints. (CP 10-11) She did not allege, however, that any of those Microsoft Corporation employees themselves engaged in any discriminatory or retaliatory conduct. She also did not allege that Microsoft Corporation's failure to hire her in 2012 was based on discrimination or retaliation—the Washington hiring managers for those positions knew her personally and had worked with her before. (CP 145-46) Instead, she asserted that "there was virtually no chance that she was going to be able to find a suitable position" at Microsoft Corporation because van Duüren, who lived in Belgium and worked with her in London, had "poison[ed] the well." (CP 11)

C. Microsoft moves to enforce Acharya's forum-selection clause and dismiss her Washington lawsuit in favor of a European forum

Microsoft Corporation moved to dismiss the lawsuit without prejudice so that Acharya could bring her action in Switzerland. (CP 71-99) It offered two independent grounds for dismissal: the forum-selection

clause and the doctrine of forum non conveniens, since most of the relevant witnesses and sources of proof were in Europe. (CP 85-97) Acharya opposed the motion. (CP 248-78)

Following a hearing, the Superior Court entered an order denying the motion without opinion. (CP 733-35) Microsoft Corporation filed a timely notice of discretionary review. (CP 746-47)

D. The Court of Appeals grants discretionary review

The Court of Appeals granted discretionary review. (App. 20-31)

The Commissioner explained that "[a] forum selection clause is
'presumptively valid and enforceable,' and the party resisting it . . . has the
burden of demonstrating otherwise." *Id.* at 26 (quoting *Dix v. ICT Grp. Inc.*, 160 Wn.2d 826, 834, 161 P.3d 1016 (2007)). "In assessing a forum
selection clause for enforceability," the Commissioner observed, "a court
does not accept the pleadings as true." *Id.* Instead, the party seeking to
avoid enforcement of the clause must "present evidence to justify
nonenforcement." *Id.* (quoting *Dix*, 160 Wn.2d at 835). Noting that the
Superior Court had "made no finding or conclusion to explain why the
clause is not enforceable," the Commissioner concluded that "[t]he trial
court's decision appears to be in error." *Id.* at 28.

E. The Court of Appeals affirms the Superior Court's denial of the motion to dismiss

The Court of Appeals affirmed. (App. 1-17) The court acknowledged the rule that a "forum-selection clause is presumptively valid and enforceable and the party resisting it has the burden of demonstrating that it is unreasonable." *Id.* at 10 (quoting *Dix*, 160 Wn.2d at 833-34). But it held that Acharya demonstrated the clause was unreasonable because enforcing it would contravene public policy. *Id.* at 11.

In reaching that conclusion, the court acknowledged Microsoft's argument that "there is nothing unreasonable about an agreement that employees working in Europe for a European company will settle their disputes in a European forum." (App. 10) But the court rejected that argument because it believed that, "for purposes of the motion under review," it was required to "presume that Microsoft, a Washington corporation, was Acharya's employer at the time of the alleged wrongful conduct." *Id.* Although the irrefutable evidence submitted showed that MGR, not Microsoft Corporation, was Acharya's employer at all times relevant to the case, the court stated that "Acharya is the nonmoving party, and she asserted that Microsoft was her employer when she suffered the alleged discrimination." *Id.* at 6. For that reason, the court concluded, it

was bound to "operate with the inference that Microsoft was Acharya's employer at the time of the alleged discriminatory actions." *Id.*

ARGUMENT

This Court has held that "[i]n assessing a forum selection clause for enforceability, the court does not accept the pleadings as true" but instead requires the party opposing enforcement to present evidence that the clause should not be enforced. *Dix v. ICT Grp., Inc.*, 160 Wn.2d 826, 835, 161 P.3d 1016 (2007). The Court of Appeals has repeatedly applied the same rule, which is consistent with that applied by federal courts. *See*, *e.g., Wilcox v. Lexington Eye Inst.*, 130 Wn. App. 234, 239, 122 P.3d 729 (2005); *Bank of Am., N.A. v. Miller*, 108 Wn. App. 745, 748, 33 P.3d 91 (2001); *Voicelink Data Servs., Inc. v. Datapulse, Inc.*, 86 Wn. App. 613, 618, 937 P.2d 1158 (1997).

In this case, however, the Court of Appeals created a conflict with all of those decisions. In a published opinion, it affirmed the trial court's denial of a motion to enforce a forum-selection clause in Acharya's employment agreement. It did so on the basis of its erroneous presumption that Acharya was an employee of a Washington corporation who had alleged misconduct in Washington. But that assumption was contrary to the undisputed evidence submitted with the motion, which established that Acharya was an employee of a Swiss corporation. The Court of Appeals

disregarded that evidence and held, contrary to *Dix*, that it was required to "presume that Microsoft, a Washington corporation, was Acharya's employer" because that was what she had "asserted" in her complaint.

(App. 6, 10)

The conflict created by the Court of Appeals is itself sufficient to make its decision worthy of review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2). But the case also warrants review because ensuring the proper standard for evaluating the enforceability of a forum-selection clause is a matter of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(4). This Court has recognized that the enforceability of forum-selection clauses is important to contractual predictability. *Dix*, 160 Wn.2d at 835. The decision below undermines that predictability by allowing any plaintiff to avoid enforcement of a valid forum-selection clause through artful pleading. That result warrants this Court's review and correction.

A. In ruling on a motion to enforce a forum-selection clause, a court must not accept the plaintiff's allegations as true when the undisputed facts contradict them

This Court has held that a court evaluating a motion to dismiss for improper venue—including a motion to dismiss on the basis of a forum-selection clause—must apply a different standard than it would apply to a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim. In ruling on a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim, a plaintiff's allegations are taken as

true, and the court may consider hypothetical facts not included in the record. FutureSelect Portfolio Mgmt., Inc. v. Tremont Grp. Holdings, Inc., 180 Wn.2d 954, 962, 331 P.3d 29, 34 (2014). That approach, however, is inappropriate in ruling on a motion to dismiss based on a forum-selection clause. If the court accepted the pleadings as true, a plaintiff could use artful pleading to avoid even the most obvious venue problems and escape the obligations of a forum-selection clause to which it had agreed. For that reason, this Court has held that "[i]n assessing a forum selection clause for enforceability, the court does not accept the pleadings as true." Dix, 160 Wn.2d at 835 (emphasis added). Instead, the party resisting a forum-selection clause "must present evidence to justify nonenforcement." Id.

The Court of Appeals has repeatedly applied the same rule: a court ruling on a motion to dismiss for improper venue must evaluate the evidence and may not simply assume the truth of the pleadings. See, e.g., Bank of Am., 108 Wn. App. at 748 ("In deciding whether to dismiss a lawsuit because of a forum selection clause, the court does not accept the pleadings as true."); Voicelink, 86 Wn. App. at 618 (same). Those cases establish that a "heavy burden of proof" attaches to "the party opposing enforcement of a forum selection clause." Voicelink, 86 Wn. App. at 619. See also Wilcox, 130 Wn. App. at 239 ("Because the court does not accept

the pleadings as true, the party challenging a forum selection provision bears a heavy burden to show it should not be enforced."). If the plaintiff "fail[s] to provide any evidence in opposition to the motion to dismiss," it fails to defeat its contractual obligation to litigate elsewhere. *Voicelink*, 86 Wn. App. at 619.

An appellate court reviewing a trial court's ruling applies the same standard: "[T]he question is whether [the plaintiffs] met their burden of proving that the forum selection clause should not be enforced." *Bank of Am.*, 108 Wn. App. at 748. *See also Wilcox*, 130 Wn. App. at 238 (same). It does not matter whether the trial judge denied the motion to dismiss, nor does it matter whether the appellate court reviews that decision de novo or for abuse of discretion. *See Bank of Am.*; 108 Wn. App. at 748 (reversing decision to set aside a forum-selection clause because, "[r]egardless of whether we review this de novo or for an abuse of discretion, the [plaintiffs] failed to carry their burden."); *Wilcox*, 130 Wn. App. at 238-39 (affirming decision to enforce a forum-selection clause because the plaintiff "failed to meet her burden under either a de novo or an abuse of discretion standard").

The long-settled practice of Washington courts under CR 12(b)(3) is consistent with that of federal courts ruling on similar motions under Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(3). See Gillett v. Conner, 132 Wn. App. 818, 823,

133 P.3d 960 (2006) ("When the language of a Washington rule and its federal counterpart are the same, courts look to decisions interpreting the federal rule for guidance."). A federal district court "may examine facts outside the complaint to determine whether its venue is proper," and the plaintiff's allegations are not to be taken as true if they are "contradicted by the defendant's affidavits." 5B Charles A. Wright et al., Federal Practice and Procedure § 1352, at 324 (3d ed. 2004); Doe 1 v. AOL LLC, 552 F.3d 1077, 1081 (9th Cir. 2009) (in considering a motion to enforce a forum-selection clause, "pleadings need not be accepted as true"). See also Argueta v. Banco Mexicano, S.A., 87 F.3d 320, 324 (9th Cir. 1996) (same). As the Eleventh Circuit has explained, a motion to enforce a forum-selection clause "is a somewhat unique context of dismissal in which we consciously look beyond the mere allegations of a complaint, and, although we continue to favor the plaintiff's facts in the context of any actual evidentiary dispute, we do not view the allegations of the complaint as the exclusive basis for decision." Estate of Myhra v. Royal Caribbean Cruises, Ltd., 695 F.3d 1233, 1239 (11th Cir. 2012).

"Broad and conclusory allegations . . . without specific factual allegations or evidentiary support" are insufficient to defeat the enforcement of a forum-selection clause. *Spradlin v. Lear Siegler Mgmt.*Servs. Co., 926 F.2d 865, 868-69 (9th Cir. 1991). Instead, defeating

enforcement requires consideration of "evidence submitted by the party opposing enforcement of the clause." *Pelleport Inv'rs, Inc. v. Budco Quality Theatres, Inc.*, 741 F.2d 273, 280 (9th Cir. 1984).

B. The decision of the Court of Appeals conflicts with decisions of this Court and of the Court of Appeals

Here, however, the Court of Appeals did not apply the standard articulated in *Dix* and followed in other Washington cases. As the court saw it, the enforceability of the forum-selection clause turned on the identity of Acharya's employer and the location of the alleged misconduct. According to the court, if Acharya's claims involved *alleged* discrimination by a European corporation in Europe, then there would be nothing unreasonable about enforcing a forum-selection clause requiring that those claims be litigated in Europe. But if her claims involved *alleged* discrimination by a Washington employer against a Washington resident occurring in Washington, the court reasoned, enforcement of the clause would be contrary to public policy because it would "prevent[] a Washington plaintiff from enforcing Washington law." (App. 11)

In assessing these key factual questions, the Court of Appeals mistakenly deemed itself bound to "presume that Microsoft, a Washington corporation, was Acharya's employer at the time of the alleged wrongful conduct." (App. 10) It applied that "presumption" not because Acharya

produced any evidence that Microsoft Corporation was her employer—as explained below, the undisputed evidence showed just the opposite. Instead, relying on a case involving a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim, the court concluded it was bound to accept the assertion in Acharya's complaint that she was an employee of Microsoft Corporation. Id. (citing Tyner v. State, 92 Wn. App. 504, 514, 963 P.2d 215 (1998), rev'd, 141 Wn.2d 68, 1 P.3d 1148 (2000)); see CP 4 (allegation in complaint that "Acharya was an employee of Microsoft until September 30, 2012"). Indeed, earlier in its opinion, the court emphasized that "Acharya is the nonmoving party, and she asserted that Microsoft was her employer when she suffered the alleged discrimination." (App. 6 (emphasis added)) For that reason, the court concluded, it was required to "operate with the inference that Microsoft was Acharya's employer at the time of the alleged discriminatory actions." Id. In other words, contrary to Dix, the Court of Appeals relied on the mistaken proposition that a court must assume the truth of the allegations in the complaint in ruling on a motion to enforce a forum-selection clause. In doing so, the court erred in a fundamental way that this Court should correct before the error gains currency based on this now-published decision.

The conflict with *Dix* is apparent not just from the Court of Appeals' language but also from its disposition of the case. Had the court

applied the proper standard—under which Acharya would have to "present evidence to justify nonenforcement" of the forum-selection clause—it could not have reached the same result. *Dix*, 160 Wn.2d at 835. That is because, as Microsoft explained in a sworn declaration, Acharya's employment agreement explicitly stated that she was employed by MGR, not Microsoft Corporation. (CP 187-193)

Acharya presented no contrary evidence. In the Superior Court, she argued that Microsoft could be liable as an "integrated enterprise" with her European employer. (CP 267-69) But she abandoned that argument after Microsoft pointed out that courts use the "integrated enterprise" analysis only to determine whether a defendant employs enough people to be subject to Title VII. Anderson v. Pac. Maritime Ass'n, 336 F.3d 924, 928-29 (9th Cir. 2003). On appeal, she presented the new argument that Microsoft and MGR were joint employers. But she cited no case in which Washington courts applied a theory of joint employment in assessing liability under the WLAD, and the Court of Appeals did not rely on that doctrine.

The Court of Appeals noted that "Acharya asserts that Microsoft violated Washington law by committing discriminatory actions in Washington," but it did not point to any evidence of legally relevant actions in Washington, and none exists. (App. 10) Acharya contends that

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