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

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED 

A. The Decision Below Does Not Conflict With Dix or Other 
Appellate Decisions 

A petition for review may be granted only in limited 

circumstances; specifically, in this case, if"the decision of the Court of 

Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court" (RAP 

13.4(b)(l) (emphasis added)) or "[i]fthe decision of the Court of Appeals 
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is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals" (RAP 

13.4(b)(2) (emphasis added)). Commonly understood the verb ''to 

conflict" connotes a direct irreconcilability or opposition. See WEBSTER's 

THIRD NEW INTERNATIONAL DICTIONARY at 4 77 (2002) (defining to 

"conflict" as ''to show variance, incompatibility, irreconcilability, or 

opposition"). In another context, Washington courts have held that one 

law is in "conflict with" another only if there is a plain and unavoidable 

divergence of legal principles, as where "[one] declares something to be 

right which the [other] declares to be wrong" or one "grants a permit or 

license to do an act which is forbidden or prohibited by the other." Town 

of Republic v. Brown, 97 Wn.2d 915,919,652 P.2d 955 (1982). The Court 

of Appeals' analysis below does not "conflict with" Dix or governing 

Washington law. 

In Dix, this Court considered whether a forum selection clause 

designating Virginia was enforceable to preclude class action plaintiffs 

from asserting claims in Washington against America Online ·under the 

Washington CPA. 160 Wn.2d 826, 828, 161 P.3d 1016 (2007). The Court 

held that it "does not accept the pleadings as true" and instead would 

consider "evidence to justify nonenforcement" of the forum selection 

clause. Id at 835. Applying that framework, the Dix Court determined that 

the plaintiffs ·had presented adequate evidence to justify non-enforcement 
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of the forum selection clause where they established that Virginia would 

deny them class-wide reljef and substantially impair their rights under the 

CPA-a statute of vital public importance in Washington. Id. at 834-35. 

Microsoft Corp. argues that (1) the Court of Appeals' 

"presumption" here conflicts with this Court's opinion in Dix; (2) the error 

was outcome determinative; and (3) accordingly sufficient ground exists 

for review in this Court under RAP 13.4. See Pet. at 1-2. Microsoft Corp. 

is wrong on all three counts, and its Petition should be denied. 

The Petition relies on a single sentence in the Court of Appeals' 

decision that merely reiterates the court's resolution of a threshold issue in 

Microsoft Corp.'sfavor; i.e., that it was "entitled" to rely on the forum 

selection clause contained in Acharya's contract with MGR. App. at 6. In 

other words, absent Acharya being presumed a Microsoft Corp. employee, 

Microsoft Corp. could not have invoked the forum selection clause at all. 

Moreover, Microsoft Corp. fails to acknowledge that in Dix, the 

Court declined to enforce a forum selection clause based solely on "a pure 

question of law"; i.e., "whether public policy precludes giving effect to a 

forum selection clause in particular circumstances." !d. In concluding that 

"a forum selection clause that seriously impairs a plaintiff's ability to 

bring suit to enforce the CPA violates the public policy of this state," id. at 

837, the purported location of the defendant was immaterial. ld. at 833-34 

- 11 -



(stating scenarios in which "enforcement would be unreaSonable"; none 

relates to the defendant's location). Here; as in Dix, the Court of Appeals 

determined that the forum selection clause cannot be enforced because it 

would contravene a "strong public policy" of Washington State to allow 

"WLAD rights [to] be waived by contract." App. at 10-11. The "location" 

of Acharya's employer was irrelevant to its analysis. 

Further, the purportedly erroneous "presumption" --even isolated 

from context-does not "conflict with" Dix. The Dix Court held that, in 

assessing a forum selection clause, a court should not limit its factual 

inquiry to a review of the complaint and instead should consider "evidence 

to justify nonenforcement" of the forum selection clause. 160 Wn.2d at 

835. Here, however, the court resolved the issu~ on public policy grounds 

as "a pure question. oflaw." The only presumption the court made--i.e., 

that Acharya was employed by Microsoft Corp.-supported enforcement 

of the forum selection clause; without it, the clause was simply irrelevant. 

Additionally, Dix did not resolve how to analyze a forum selection 

clause where, as here, the parties presented countervailing evidence 

concerning the enforceability of a forum selection clause. Here, contrary 

to Microsoft's perfunctory assertion (Pet. at 15), Acharya presented 

substantial evidence indicating Microsoft Corp. as Acharya's joint 

employer. See App. at 5. 
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In this circt.unstance, on a motion to dismiss where evidence 

·presented conflicts, Washington law counsels that a court should resolve 

the dispute with an inference· in favor of a plaintiff's chosen venue. See 

Eubanks v. Brown, 180 Wn.2d 590, 595, 327 P.3d 635 (2014) (holding 

that it is a "well-established principle" that "[t]he initial choice of venue 

belongs to the plaintiff'); Carr v. Remele, 74 Wash. 380, 381, 133 P. 593 

(1913) (Washington courts favor the venue chosen by the plaintiff). This 

was the approach implemented by the trial court. 

The decision below also does not "conflict with" other appellate 

decisions cited by Microsoft Corp., none of which extends beyond Dix. 

See Wilcox v. Lexington Eye Inst., 130 Wn. App. 234, 239, 122 P.3d 729 

(2005) (stating only that that a court "does not accept the pleadings as 

true," without further analysis); Bank of Am., NA. v. Miller, 108 Wn. App. 

745, 748, 33 P.3d 91 (2001) (same); Voice/ink Data Servs., Inc. v. 

Datapulse, Inc., 86 Wn. App. 613, 618, 937 P.2d 1158 (1997) (same). 

Further, as Microsoft Corp. concedes, federal authority applying 

the parallel Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(3) supports the proposition that where 

the facts presented conflict, a limited inference in favor of the allegations 

in the complaint is appropriate. See Pet. at 12. For example, in Estate of 

Myhra v. Royal Caribbean Cruises, the United States Court of Appeals for 

the Eleventh Circuit explained that the court properly looks beyond the 
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boundaries of the complaint in considering a Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(3) 

· motion, but when the parties submit conflicting evidence "the court, in the 

absence of an evidentiary hearing, 'is inclined to give greater weight to the 

plaintiffs version of the jurisdictional facts and to construe such facts in 

the light most favorable to the plaintiff."' 695 F.3d 1233, 1239 (lith Cir. 

2012)(quoting Home Ins. Co. v. Thomas Indus., Inc., 896 F.2d 1352, 1355 

(II th Cir. 1990) ). Thus, the court concluded "we continue to favor the 

plaintiffs facts in the context of any actual evidentiary dispute." Estate of 

Myhra, 695 F.3d at 1239. This is the prudential approach the Court of 

Appeals implemented. Accordingly, there is no basis to grant the Petition 

under RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2). 

B. The Court of Appeals' Decision Does Not Otherwise Present a 
Matter of"Substantial Public Interest" Worthy of Review 

Microsoft Corp. argues that the Petition should be granted because 

consistent application of forum selection clauses is an "important" issue. 

Pet. at 17-18. Yet, the threshold to obtain Supreme Court review invoked 

by Microsoft does not mention "importance" but instead requires a 

showing by the Petitioner that Petition "involves an issue of substantial 

public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." RAP 

13.4(b)(4) (emphasis added). 
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This rule is designed to allow the Supreme Court to ensure that 

disputes concerning distinctly public issues are adjudicated at the highest 

level. For example, when considering an argument that a lawsuit is moot, 

this Court has explained that the "continuing and substantial public 

interest" mootness exception turns in relevant part upon "whether the issue 

is of a public or private nature." Hart v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs., 111 

Wn.2d 445, 447-48, 759 P.2d 1206 (1988).3 Only disputes that are at their 

essence public in nature are subject to review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).4 

Microsoft Corp. fails to cite any authority holding that the 

interpretation of a clause in a private contract is a matter of "substantial 

public interest" under RAP 13.4(b)(4). Applying the rule's plain language, 

the issue in Petition is simply not "public" (much less of"substantial" 

public interest). Microsoft Corp.'s Petition should be denied. 

C. The Court Of Appeals Correctly Determined That Microsoft 
Corp. Was Acharya's Employer 

The Court of Appeals plainly reached the correct conclusion: 

Microsoft Corp. was Acharya's exclusive or ''joint" employer. As detailed 

above, Microsoft Corp. employees based in Redmond facilitated her 

3 Under the "continuing" aspect of the mootness analysis, the court also 
considers ''whether the issue is likely to recur." Hart, 111 Wn.2d at 447-48. 

4 By way of example, the Legislature expressed the keen public 
importance of guaranteeing that the WLAD receives broad affect to protect 
Washington residents. RCW 49.60.010. Accordingly, if the Court of Appeals had 
denied Acharya's right to. invoke the WLAD to protect against alleged gender 
discrimination, basis might exist to grant review under RAP 13 .4(b )( 4 ). 

- 15-



transition, managed, and controlled her group, supervised and controlled 

her direct manager, van Duiiren, and handled every aspect of her 

complaints regarding discrimination and retaliation. See CP 283-291. 

These facts, and others, indicate Microsoft Corp. as her employer. See, 

e.g., Becerra v. Expert Janitorial, LLC, 332 P.3d 415,421 (Wash. 2014) 

(joint employment relationship analyzed under the "economic reality" test, 

which takes into consideration any factors the court deems "relevant to its 

assessment of the economic realities"); c.f Anfinson v. FedEx Ground 

Package Sys., Inc., 159 Wn. App. 35, 72,244 P.3d 32 (2010), a.ff'd, 174 

Wn.2d 851, 281 P.3d 289 (2012) ("whether a defendant is a plaintiffs' 

joint employer is a mixed question of law and fact and is properly a 

question for the jury"). 

D. The Alleged Erroneous Inference Did Not Mfect or Control 
the Court of Appeals' Forum Selection Clause Analysis 

Microsoft Corp. vaguely asserts that the Court of Appeals' 

"presumption" controlled and determined the Court's finding that the 

forum selection clause in Acharya's contract was unenforceable and, in 

this way, Microsoft Corp. was prejudiced. Microsoft Corp. is incorrect. 

First, the Court's "presumption" concerning Acharya's employer 

is not relevant under governing forum selection clause law-authority that 

the Court of Appeals properly applied. Under Dix-the very case 
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Microsoft Corp. relies upon-the purported location of the employer is not 

a factor considered by the courts in evaluating whether a forum selection 

clause should be enforced. The Dix Court explained that the court begins 

with the presumption that a forum selection clause is ''valid and 

enforceable" and deviates from tluit presumption to deny enforcement 

only "in the particular circumstance, enforcement would be unreasonable." 

160 Wn.2d at 834. The Dix Court then identified three "particular 

circumstances" in which a clause may be held unreasonable: 

if (i) it was induced by fraud or overreaching, (ii) the 
contractually selected forum is so unfair and inconvenient 
as, for all practical purposes, to deprive the plaintiff of a 
remedy or of its day in court, or (iii) enforcement would 
contravene a strong public policy of the State where the 
action is filed. 

ld. Here, the court's inference concerning Acharya's employer could not 

even conceivably control the analysis in any of these circumstances. The 

first circumstance turns on whether the employment contract is dishonest 

or oppressive; the second circumstance considers whether the clause 

would strip the plaintiff of its right to bring its claim in a court 

somewhere; and the third circumstance turns on Washington public 

considerations. The court's supposedly erroneous inference did not 

dictate-nor was it relevant to-the answers to any of these questions. 

Tellingly, Microsoft Corp. does not even mention this governing 

law nor make any effort to link the Court of Appeals' inference to an 
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actual, outcome-determinative analytical error. This is because the Court 

of Appeals did not err. Indeed, its analysis closely patterns the Washington 

Supreme Court's analysis in Dix. As explained above, the Dix Court 

considered whether to enforce a forum selection clause· that would 

"seriously impair" the contracting plaintiffs' rights under the CPA. The 

Dix Court declared that, in Washington, "a contractual choice-of-forum 

clause should be held unenforceable if enforcement would contravene a 

strong public policy of the forum in which suit is brought, whether 

declared by statute or by judiGial decision." 160 Wn.2d at 836 (quoting 

MIS Bremen v. Zapata Off-Shore Co., 407 U.S. 1, 15,92 S. Ct. 1907,32 L. 

Ed. 2d 513 (1972)). Turning to the facts of the case, the Dix Court 

explained that "[t]he private right of action to enforce [the CPA] is more 

thail a means for vindicating the rights of the individual plaintiff." Id at 

83 7. The purpose of CPA enforcement is "for the public as a whole." Id 

Accordingly, the Court concluded: 

Given the importance of the private right of action to 
enforce the CPA for the protection of all the citizens of the 
state, we conclude that a forum selection clause that 
seriously impairs a plaintiffs ability to bring suit to enforce 
the CPA violates the public policy of this state. 

Jd. Similarly, here, the Court of Appeals analyzed whether to enforce the 

forum selection clause in light of Washington's public policy interest in 

preventing discrimination. App. 10-11 & n.3. The court explained: 
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"Acharya argues that it would contravene public policy to require her to 

litigate in Switzerland, thus "relinquish[ing] the robust civil rights 

afforded to her under the WLAD." Id at 11. The court credited Acharya' s 

position, finding that "[u]nder Washington law, the right to be free from 

discrimination is nonnegotiable and cannot be waived in contract" and 

ultimately concluding that "[p]reventing a Washington plaintiff from 

enforcing Washington law is contrary to public policy." Id (citing Dix, 

160 Wn.2d at 837). Thus, the Court of Appeals held that, under the legal 

standard articulated in Dix, "[i]t would be unreasonable to enforce the 

forum selection and choice of law clauses, thereby precluding Acharya 

from pursuing her WLAD claims." !d. Conspicuously absent from this 

analysis is any discussion of identity of Acharya's employer. That fact-

inferred or proven otherwise--was not relevant. 5 

Second, even if it could be argued that the Court of Appeals' 

inference concerning Acharya's employer was relevant to the forum 

selection clause analysis, that inference benefited Microsoft, not Acharya, 

and buoyed Microsoft Corp.'s argument that.it could invoke the clause in 

Acharya's employment contract with MGR to escape the jurisdiction of 

5 The identity of Acharya's employer is arguably relevant to the question 
of whether Acharya's complaint stated a claim against Microsoft Corp., the 
Washington entity. Yet, as Microsoft concedes, it is black letter law that in the 
context ofCR 12(b)(6) motion, the Court presumes allegations in the complaint 
. to be true. See Pet. at 14. Furthermore, Microsoft Corp. did not appeal this issue. 
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Washington courts: "Acharya is the nonmoving party, and she asserted 

that Microsoft was her employer .... Accordingly, we operate with the 

inference that Microsoft was Acharya's employer .... Microsoft is thus 

entitled to invoke the provisions of the employment contract." App. at 6. 

Indeed, the Court of Appeals allowed Microsoft Corp. the benefit of the 

forum selection clause over Acharya's objections that Microsoft Corp. 

could not invoke the clause as non-signatory. Thus, the supposedly 

erroneous judgment actually favored Microsoft Corp. Microsoft Corp. 

cannot obtain review from such a finding by implying that it was 

"outcome determinative" in Acharya's favor. It plainly was not. 

VI. CONCLUSION 

Microsoft has failed to establish any basis for granting review 

under RAP 13.4(b). The Court of Appeals decision does not "conflict 

with" Dix or other governing Washington law, and this matter of 

interpretation of private contract is not one of substantial public interest 

warranting review. In any event, the Court of Appeals' alleged error · 

benefited Microsoft Corp.'s position and in no way affected or controlled 

the Court of Appeals' analysis of whether to enforce the forum selection 

clause in Acharya's contract. For these reasons, and for all additional 

reasons stated above, Acharya respectfully asks the Court to deny the 

Petition for Review.